1990

William Paul Barron, Jr. v. Southland Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This appeal is from the final decision and order of the Third Judicial Circuit Court by Judge Paul G. Grant dated July 31, 1990; and the final decision and order of the same Court on Appellant's Motion for New Trial dated September 29, 1990.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. In presenting pleadings and testimony to the trial court did the defense counsel commit "fraud upon the court" in presenting evidence to justify defense assertions for a finding of "bad faith" against the plaintiff/appellant by the trial court, or make material fact misrepresentations in the pleadings submitted or testified thereto in open court, or otherwise commit misconduct, to such a level or degree that justice would require relief to the plaintiff under Rule 60(b)(1), (3), and (7), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, thereby rendering the judgement invalid?

The standard of review for this issue is the substantive test of material fact, clearly erroneous standard, and abuse of discretion standard.

Standards of Review, by Steven A. Childress and Martha S. Davis, [KF 4575 C48 (1986), §5.2 and § 5.6].

2. Did the plaintiff/appellant provide sufficient evidence for the trial court upon his motion for a new trial to show merit due to unforeseen circumstances under Rule 59(a)(3), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure? And did the trial court abuse

abuse its discretion in denying the plaintiff/appellants Motion for a New Trial?

The standard of Review for this issue is the abuse of discretion standard. Standards of Review, by Childress and Davis, §5.6 [KF 4575 C48 (1986)].

3. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by granting judgement against the plaintiff, when there still were motions for Rule 11 sanctions against defense counsel (which alleged bad faith representation of material facts at issue before the court) still pending when the aforesaid judgement was granted to the defendants?

The standard of review is the abuse of discretion and clearly erroneous standards. Standards of Review, by Childress and Davis, § 5.6 [KF 4575 C48 (1986)].

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS,
STATUTES, ORDINANCES, AND RULES

The following Utah Statutes and Rules are set-forth in the addendum to this brief in Appendix K.

Statutes

| | |
|---------------------------------|-----------------------------------|
| 11 United States Code § 362 | Automatic Stay |
| Utah Annotated Code, § 16-10-13 | Service of Process |
| § 31A-2-310 | Service of Process |
| § 41-6-32 | Notice of Accident |
| § 76-10-801 | Nuisances |
| § 76-10-803 | Public Nuisances |
| § 76-10-808 | Civil Remedy Allowed ¹ |

Rules

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure

| | |
|---------|-----------------------|
| Rule 3 | Commencing Action |
| Rule 4 | Service of Process |
| Rule 8 | Pleadings, general |
| Rule 10 | Pleadings, form of |
| Rule 11 | Pleadings, sanctions |
| Rule 52 | Findings by Court |
| Rule 59 | New Trials |
| Rule 60 | Relief from Judgement |

Utah Rules of Evidence

Rule 201 Judicial Notice

Rule 602 Personal Knowledge

Rule 701 Lay Witness Testimony

Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure

Rule 29 Oral Arguments

¹ All citations in this brief hereinafter also make parallel reference to Utah Annotated Code § 78-38-1 with regards to statutory remedy to civil action for relief of damages as a result of nuisances under § 76-10-801, 76-10-803, or 76-10-808, U.A.C.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Plaintiff filed a claim for damages to his automobile in the Third Circuit Court stemming from a nighttime accident on the property of the defendants, and a claim for medical bills, pain and suffering stemming from aggravation of pre-existing medical conditions of the plaintiff. Plaintiff alleged that the defendants placed an obstruction in the roadway, and failed to properly make the obstruction plainly visible at night when said obstruction was painted the same color of a background light pole and similarly dark-colored gas pumps (dark green). Plaintiff argued that said conduct constituted a nuisance and a public nuisance, that breached their legal duty to provide a safe passage to plaintiff and his passengers. Plaintiff further alleged unlawful co-ercion and threat by defendants² in order to prevent the plaintiff was exercising his rights under §76-10-808, Utah Annotated Code, which specified a civil action against a defendant who maintained a nuisance to recover damages.

Course of Proceedings

Appellant filed a complaint against the appellees on October 21, 1989 for damages resulting from an accident on or about March 26-27, 1989 in Provo, Utah County, Utah. Defendant Kemper Group was dismissed from the suit on April 4, 1990. Trial was scheduled for July 16, 1990, however, due to the appellants illness and incapacity, only defense counsel appeared.

Appellant filed a Motion for New Trial and a Notice of Appeal before July 29, 1990.¹ On July 31, 1990, a judgement dismissing this action was signed by Third Circuit Court Judge Paul G. Grant. Appellants Motion for a new trial was denied on September 29, 1990. Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 362, an automatic stay on further proceedings was issued by the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Texas, Dallas Division on behalf of defendant Southland Corporation. The stay was terminated by the Bankruptcy Court effective March 5, 1991, as affirmed by notice received from defense counsel on or about March 21, 1991.

Disposition at Trial Court

The trial court dismissed appellant's action with a finding of bad faith when the trial judge signed an order prepared by the defense counsel on July 31, 1990.

The trial court dismissed appellant's motion for a new trial on September 29, 1990 by a journal minute entry.

Relevant Facts

One of the central issues in this appeal involved an allegation of misrepresentation, misconduct, or "fraud upon the court". Central facts related to this allegation is testimony by the defense counsel at trial that asserted that appellants malpractice suit was dismissed (transcript: page 2, line 23-25). The trial date was July 16, 1990; the matter of Barron v. Dr. Thomas M. Kelley, MD, et al. was not dismissed until May 8, 1991, which was almost ten (10) months after the trial date.

[Transcript in Appendix D; Barron v. Kelley et al is

located in Appendix B.]

Other relevant facts will not be discussed here inasmuch as they offer interpretations and conclusions that are more correctly a part of the argument.

Since the appellant does not seek a de novo review on the merits of the original cause of action, but only to set aside the judgement, detailed facts in this matter will only be offered as they are material to the issues on appeal. The claim was based on an automobile accident on appellee's of business on or about March 26-27, 1989, at approximately 12:30 A.M. Appellant approached the pump island at an angle, and struck a black guard post that was approximately 23 inches from the gas pumps (and/or pump island). At the time of the accident, the aforesaid gas pumps were painted dark green, and the light pole beside the pumps was painted black. Appellants son was a witness and passenger at the time of the accident.

1

Appellants personal files and original papers are in storage in Salt Lake City, and the exact date is not known, but appellant believes the Motion for New Trial was filed on July 19, 1990; and the Notice of Appeal was filed on August 30, 1990 - within 30 days of the date the judgement was signed by Judge Grant.

2

See Appendix C.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

On October 21, 1989, the appellant William Paul Barron, Jr. filed a complaint against the appellees alleging that the defendants were negligent in causing the accident by placing an unmarked, or poorly marked, obstruction in the roadway. The appellant contends that the coloring of the guard post was so indistinguishable from the background light post and gas pumps, and was, by virtue of its placement in the roadway, a nuisance to traffic. Appellant's claim for relief was based upon the provisions of § 76-10-808 of the Utah Annotated Code that provided civil remedy for relief on damages caused proximally from a nuisance. [See Appendix A.]

Appellees have asserted that appellant failed to exercise a high degree of care and proper lookout, and maintained that appellants claim for relief was frivolous and without merit. [See letter from Dennis Op1, dated November 2, 1989, Appendix C.]

Kemper Group of Insurance Companies was dismissed from the suit on April 4, 1990, because Utah law did not permit a direct action against the insurance carrier.

Trial was first scheduled for hearing in January or thereabout and was rescheduled to July 16, 1990, based upon objections raised by the appellant that discovery had not been completed.¹ The trial court sustained appellant's Motion for Order to Compel Discovery shortly before this first scheduling of trial by the

defense counsel.

Prior to the trial date the appellant filed two (2) motions for sanctions against the defense counsel pursuant to Rule 11 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The substance of the reasons for the appellants motion was the contention that the defense counsel had misrepresented material facts, statements and allegations of the complainant, or had made untrue assertions to the trial court knowing that they were not true.

Prior to the trial date the appellant had provided a large body of medical information and records, and further kept the defense counsel abreast of the current medical condition of the appellant. Appellant reported to the defense counsel in the weeks prior to the trial alternate means of communication in an emergency because appellants telephone service was disconnected.² Appellant further advised defense counsel of recent medical treatment and episodes of cardiac syncope and incapacity. The appellant made every effort to inform defense counsel of such circumstances that could delay his appearance (e.g. hospitalization), because the appellant had every intention and desire to press his claim at trial. Appellant took such precautions as he deemed prudent because the appellant was experiencing health problems immediately prior to the trial.³

On the day scheduled for trial the appellant became ill and incapacitated. Defense counsel asserted that the appellant had prosecuted this action in bad faith, and secured a judgement to

that effect on July 31, 1990. The appellant contends that at the trial defense counsel withheld knowledge of appellants medical condition as a possible explanation for non-appearance, and made several assertions to secure a finding of bad faith with full knowledge that those assertions were either completely false or misleading. On appeal appellant asserts that this misconduct, mispresentation or fraud only followed established conduct from onset of the action, and that defense counsel was fully culpable for said conduct.

Appellant further contends that the trial court⁴ knew that strong objections had been made against defense counsel's conduct, and that such conduct had a material bearing on the appellants case and the issue of appellees allegation of "bad faith" by the appellant. Armed with such knowledge, a judgement for bad faith was an abuse of discretion.

Appellant filed a motion for a new trial within the ten (10) day requirement of Rule 59(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The motion was filed pursuant to Rule 59(a)(3) and asserted that appellants non-appearance was an accident or surprise which ordinary prudence could not have guarded against due to appellants unforeseen incapacitation on the day of trial.

Appellant asserts that sufficient testimony of his incapacitation and medical evidence and other factors, such as loss of telephone service, existed to warrant a new trial. Further, in view of the motions for sanctions against alleged misconduct of the defense counsel, the denial of the motion by the trial court

was an abuse of discretion.

Because the appellant has relocated to Ohio, he does not seek a new trial. Appellants poverty prevents his return to Utah in the foreseeable future, therefore, he could not prosecute his claim even if the court found that a new trial was warranted. Appellant seeks only the equitable discharge from the judgement imposed by the trial court because of the misrepresentations, misconduct, or fraud of the defense counsel in securing that judgement.

-
- 1 Because appellant's papers are in storage in Utah, he can not say with certainty, the date on which appellees' counsel first certified readiness for trial, but that it was in the early part of 1990 (i.e. January or February).
 - 2 Notification to appellees' counsel in Appendix H.
 - 3 See notification in Appendix H.
 - 4 See documentation in Appendix I.

DETAIL OF THE ARGUMENT

Introduction

Appellees' counsel asserts that appellants suit was brought in bad faith [see trial transcript, page 2 line 2, Appendix D] and in the supporting memorandum for a motion for summary disposition dated June 24, 1991, and stated for the record:

In the trial court, the appellant brought a claim of questionable merit which was unsubstantiated by fact. The trial court acknowledged the meritless nature of the claim by dismissing the claim with a finding that the suit was brought in bad faith. This appeal is a continuation of questionable claims unsubstantiated by fact. [p. 4, lines 19-25.]

The appellants suit and claim arose from an accident during the night of March 26-27, 1989, when the appellant struck a post approximately 23" from either the pump island or the the gas pump¹. The accident occurred in the city of Provo, Utah, at the corner of Columbia Aveune and 1200 West at approximately 12:30 A.M.

Upon impact, both the appellant and his son were appalled because appellants auto was almost two feet away from the gas pump. After exiting vehicle they determined that the object struck was a concrete-filled metal post about two feet from the gas pumps, and was unnoticeable at night because the post was painted black, and lacked any reflective coloring, striping or other visible markings on the roadway obstruction. Additionally, Visibility was made even more difficult due to background coloring. The gas pumps were painted dark green, and the light pole

was painted black.

Appellant pulled into the 7-11 Store refueling station off Columbia Avenue northbound, and approached the pump island at an angle of approximately forty-five degrees across the parking lot. Approaching the pump island, appellant turned his vehicle in order to place his vehicle parallel to the pumps. It was at this time that the guard post was struck. At this angle of approach, the guard post was in direct alignment with the light pole, which was also painted black, and partially centered on the line-of-sight with the nearest gas pump.² Neither the appellant nor his primary witness, son Donald Eric Barron, observed any obstruction or danger in the vehicle's path of approach to the pumps prior to the impact with the guard post.

After the collision, the appellant refueled and informed the clerk on duty of the accident, and requested reporting instructions, in accordance with the provisions of § 41-6-32, Utah Annotated Code (hereinafter cited as U.A.C.) Appellant also requested that the store manager be advised to place some type of reflective markings on the post in order to avoid any further mishaps.

For the next six months appellant received no response to his claim for damages from Southland Corporation, which owns and operated the 7-11 Store in Provo, inspite of several letters and telephone calls. Finally, the appellant received a letter from Dennis Op1, insurance adjustor for Kemper Group, on November 2, 1989 [See Appendix C.] Mr. Op1 first asserted that my claim was

frivolous, and that if I pressed my claim for damages in court that they would demand a ruling of "bad faith".

Prior to initiating legal proceedings, appellant sought the advice of legal counsel, concerning this matter and proceeded upon that advice to establish the claim in court. Because of appellant's poverty, legal advice was the extent of services obtained from John W. Call, Attorney-at-Law. Appellant went to the University of Utah Law Library to research applicable statutes and case law that might be pertinent to his case. [See Appendix A.]

Based upon legal advice thus far obtained, and research³ in law performed, appellant firmly believed that the three elements of a tort action in this matter were fulfilled. In reading § 76-10-801, U.A.C. appellant learned that a nuisance was cited as "anything, item, manner, or condition whatsoever that is dangerous to human life or health", and that a public nuisance was cited in § 76-10-803, U.A.C. as "omitting to perform any duty, which ommission either annoys, injures, or endangers the comfort, repose, health or safety of three or more persons, or unlawfully interferes with, obstructs, or tends to obstruct, or renders dangerous for passage any ... street, highway, or in any way renders three or more persons insecure in life or the use of property." These statutes outlined the existence of a legal duty from the defendants to the plaintiff.

The appellant asserted that by placing an obstruction in the path of his vehicle, and failing to properly mark that obstruction, i.e. the guard post, in such a manner to make it

visible after sunset, at night, and particularly on a moonless night that was the case on March 26-27, 1989, that the defendants breached their legal duty to the appellant and his passengers, his son and daughter, and their friend. Further, the breach of that duty placed the appellant and his passengers "insecure in life or the use of property", i.e. insecure in making a stop at a public place of business without injury or harm, and in which said negligence was the proximate cause of damage sustained to the appellants automobile. Therefore, all three elements of a tort claim against the tortfeasor, Southland Corporation dba 7-11 Stores, and Citgo Petroleum Corporation, whose product for retail sales was marketed at that location and whose gasoline pumps and elemental attachments thereto, were met in the appellants claim.

The only element missing is a proper claim for relief. Under § 76-10-808, U.A.C. state statutes provided civil remedy for relief from damages as a proximate result of negligence for maintaining a nuisance as described under the aforesaid statutes, § 76-10-801 and 76-10-803, U.A.C.

The appellant lacks formal legal training, but did graduate from Bowling Green State University maintaining a 3.850 grade point average in his major field of study. Appellant sought and obtained preliminary legal advice, and performed all relevant research into law to the best of his ability and knowledge.⁴ Rule 11, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (hereinafter cited as U.R.C.P.), states:

The signature of an attorney or party constitutes

a certificate by him that he has read the pleading, motion, or other paper; that to the best of his knowledge, information, and belief formed after reasonable inquiry it is well grounded in fact and is warranted by existing law or a good faith argument for the extension, modification, or reversal of existing law, and that it is not interposed for any improper purpose, such as to harass or to cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of litigation.

The appellant possesses the mental faculties to make a reasonable inquiry and to perform basic legal research into his problem, after initial advice by an attorney at law, in order to formulate a good faith argument and belief upon filing his complaint with trial court. Even though the presentation may lack the polish of a seasoned attorney, and even though his pleadings may have had minor defects in form, appellant proceeded in this cause of action based upon a reasonable belief that there was a claim upon which relief was had under Utah law, and acted in every measure in good faith.

Every pleading submitted to the trial court by the appellant was made in accordance with Rule 8(a), (e)(1) and (2), and (f), Rule 10, and Rule 11, U.R.C.P. Appellants complaint and pleadings were not very technical, perhaps, in that they they may have lacked numerous citations to case law that an attorney with time and expetise may have made; but every pleading was concise in that it gave fair notice of the nature, basis, or grounds of his claim. This was sufficient unless appellant would be entitled to no relief under any state of facts which could be proved in support of his claim. Blackman v. Snelgrove, 3 Utah 2d. 157, 280, 280 P.2d 453 (1955). Further, the fundamental purpose of the liberalized

pleading rules is to afford parties the privilege of presenting whatever legitimate contentions they have pertaining to their dispute, subject only to the requirement that their adversaries have fair notice of the nature and basis or grounds of the claim and a general indication of the type of litigation involved.

Williams v. State Farm Insurance Co., 656 P.2d 966 (Utah 1982).

The second consideration on the question whether appellant brought forth a claim of questionable merit would be determined - in normal proceedings - during the course of trial, wherein the testimony and evidence assembled by the appellant would be judged.

During the course of discovery, appellees by and through their counsel, T. J. Tsakalos #3289, were provided with maps, diagrams, and photos prepared by the appellant of the accident site, during both daylight and nighttime hours.⁵ These items were prepared to show the appellants angle of approach to the obstruction, the distances and angles involved. The appellant also provided appellees with a computer enhancement photo rendition of what the appellant saw that night, by using color copier technology at Kinko's of Salt Lake City, Inc., to render a color photo taken several weeks after the accident (which was by then painted white instead of dark green) as it looked at the time of the accident, on the moonless night of March 26-27, 1989. This color copy photograph, which was enlarged, showed the position and the alignment of the guard post to the light pole and gas pump at the

approach angle the appellant drove towards the obstruction on the night of the accident. In order to simulate a night photo, this copy was again copied with grey overtone and shading which aided appellant in showing how obscure the post would look at night when two posts of like color were aligned as they were when the appellant made his approach.⁵

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