1990

William Paul Barron, Jr. v. Southland Corporation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. A claim of "fraud upon the court" by one of the parties under Utah law must be raised by filing an action separate from the underlying case. As the Appellant failed to raise a claim of "fraud upon the court" in the proper manner it should not be addressed by this Court. However, even if the Court reaches the merits of this issue, Appellee's counsel did not commit "fraud upon the court" since Appellee's counsel never prevented the Appellant from presenting his position at trial. Moreover, Appellee did not affirmatively misrepresent facts to the trial court.

2. The Appellant's motion for a new trial was

inappropriate under Rule 59(a)(3) since new trials are granted under this section for accident or surprise at trial rather than the inability of a party to attend the trial. However, should this Court reach the merits of this issue, the trial court judge properly denied the motion for a new trial since there was not sufficient evidence given by the Appellant to justify a new trial.

3. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by granting judgment to the Appellee while there were outstanding Rule 11 motions against Appellee's counsel. Rule 11 motions have nothing to do with the merits of the case and do not preclude judgment being entered. Moreover, it is standard practice and it is suggested that decisions regarding Rule 11 motions be delayed until the end of litigation.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

A. A CLAIM OF "FRAUD UPON THE COURT" IS INAPPROPRIATELY BEFORE THIS COURT. ALTERNATIVELY, APPELLEE'S COUNSEL DID NOT COMMIT "FRAUD UPON THE COURT."

Appellant's claim for "fraud upon the court" is inappropriately before this Court. Under Utah law, an action for "fraud upon the court" must be raised in an action separate from the action in which the alleged fraud took place. "Fraud upon the court" cannot be raised by a motion in the underlying case and therefore cannot be a point of contention on appeal.

We believe and hold that where "fraud upon the court" is the gravamen of the proceeding, such proceeding must be pursued in an independent action by filing a separate suit, paying the statutory filing fee therefor (which was not done here), and requiring the statutory issuance and service of process.

Shaw v. Pilcher, 341 P.2d 949, 950 (Utah 1959). See also:
McGavin v. McGavin, 494 P.2d 283, 284 (Utah 1972).

In the present case, as was the case in Shaw, the party complaining of "fraud upon the court" has failed to raise that claim in a separate proceeding. The Appellant in the present case has not filed a separate action, paid the statutory filing fee, or perfected process as is required. Therefore, the issue of "fraud upon the court" is not properly before this Court and should be dismissed.

B. THE ACTS COMPLAINED OF BY APPELLANT DO NOT AMOUNT TO THE "FRAUD" NECESSARY FOR SETTING ASIDE A JUDGMENT.

Under Utah law, in order to use fraud to set aside a judgment, it must be the type of fraud which "has the effect of depriving the other party of the opportunity to present his claim or defense." Haner v. Haner, 373 P.2d 577, 578 (Utah 1962).

The Haner court continues:

This type of fraud, which is regarded as a fraud not only upon the opponent, but on the court itself, can be accomplished in a number of ways, such as making false statements or representations to the other party or to witnesses to prevent them from contesting the issues; or by that means or otherwise preventing the attendance of the parties or

witnesses; or by destroying or secreting evidence; so that a fair trial of the issues is effectively prevented.

373 P.2d at 578-79.

The actions complained of by the Appellant do not fall within any of the categories listed as appropriate categories for the setting aside of judgment due to fraud. The Appellee or Appellee's counsel in no way prevented the Appellant from appearing at trial or contesting his issues. Appellee and counsel for Appellee simply appeared at trial and made the appropriate motions in order to defend their position. Appellee's counsel was not required to make Appellant's case for him or to insure that the Appellant would be able to present his claims at a later date.

It is the position of Appellee that Appellee's counsel did not make any fraudulent misrepresentations to the court. However, even if such statements had been made, they would not be grounds for setting aside the judgment. The Haner court continues:

It is obvious that quite a different situation exists where there is no prevention of the party from contesting the issues in a trial and where the complaint is simply that one party presented perjured testimony or false evidence. This charge is simply a continuation of the same dispute which the trial was supposed to resolve.

373 P.2d at 579.

Appellee vigorously denies that he presented any fraudulent misrepresentation to the court. However, even if Appellee's counsel made a misstatement to the court, this is not grounds for setting aside a judgment under Utah law.

C. APPELLEE'S COUNSEL MADE NO FRAUD OR MISREPRESENTATION TO THE COURT.

At the July 16, 1990 hearing on Appellee's Motion to Dismiss (see Exhibit A) Appellee's counsel represented to the Court that the Appellant had recently filed numerous claims against numerous defendants, and most, if not all of them, had been dismissed. Appellee's counsel then represented that he thought that an additional case brought by the Appellant against the State of Utah and the Utah State Tax Commission had been dismissed. Apparently, that case had been appealed to the United States Supreme Court. Appellee's counsel made no representations as to how or why these cases were dismissed. The above representations made to the trial court by Appellee's counsel do not constitute "fraud upon the court." Appellee's counsel represented to the trial court that numerous other cases had been filed by the Appellant at approximately the same time and had been dismissed and did not elaborate further. Appellee's counsel had no duty to elaborate further and did not intentionally misrepresent any of the facts pertaining to Appellant's other litigation.

At page 24 of Appellant's brief, Appellant argues that ". . . the canon of ethics require one to advise the court fully of all material facts." The Appellant does not offer any authority for this proposition, but rather states:

Appellant does not offer any case law or other authority because Appellant is not able to undertake legal research at this time, because he is not able to quickly or conveniently locate and drive to a law library with adequate resources appropriate to Utah law. This argument is made in accordance with standard ethical considerations.

Brief of Appellant, footnote 8, page 30.

There is absolutely no basis for the proposition that "standard ethical considerations" require an opposing party to make the case for his opponent. The representations made by Appellee's counsel to the trial court were substantially correct.

At page 25 of Appellant's brief, he states that defense counsel "knowingly and with malicious intent" made false statements to the trial court. There is absolutely no evidence presented that would support a finding of knowing and malicious intent on the part of Appellee's counsel. Rather, as has been explained above, Appellee's counsel simply represented to the trial court that the plaintiff had filed numerous other suits at approximately the same time. Moreover, most if not all those suits had been dismissed. While Appellant certainly has every right to pursue remedies to valid claims in the judicial system, it is uncommon for this amount of litigation to be pursued at one

time. Appellee's counsel only wanted to point this out to the court.

Under Utah law, Appellant's claim of "fraud against the court" by Appellee's counsel is inappropriately before this Court. Also, the acts complained of by the Appellant do not constitute the type of fraud by which a judgment can be set aside. If this Court feels it must reach the merits of this issue, it is clear that Appellee's counsel's representations to the trial court do not amount to "fraud upon the court."

POINT II.

APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL WAS INAPPROPRIATE. EVEN IF THE MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL WAS APPROPRIATE, APPELLANT DID NOT PROVIDE A SUFFICIENT BASIS ON WHICH A NEW TRIAL COULD BE GRANTED.

Appellant claims he was unable to attend the July 16, 1990 trial because of mitral valve prolapse syndrome which renders him incapacitated for hours at a time. Appellant claims that on the day of the hearing he was incapacitated due to this illness.

Appellant based his motion for a new trial on Rule 59(a)(3) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Rule 59(a)(3) states that a new trial may be granted for "accident or surprise, which ordinary prudence could not have guarded against." This basis for a new trial is usually construed as requiring accident or surprise at trial, rather than accident or surprise in prohibiting attendance at trial. See, Anderson v. Bradley, 590

P.2d 339 (Utah 1979); Powers v. Gene's Bldg Materials, Inc., 567 P.2d 174 (Utah 1977); (A "surprise" at trial which could have been easily guarded against by utilization of available discovery procedures may not serve as a ground for a new trial under subdivision (a)(3)); (Rule 59(a)(3) requires that the moving parties show that ordinary prudence was exercised to guard against the accident or surprise); Ericksen v. Wasatch Manor, 802 P.2d 1323 (Utah App. 1990); (because the depositions of three witnesses were taken by the defendant, the defendant had notice of the expected testimony. Thus, no unfair surprise was shown and a new trial was not warranted); see also: Chournos v. D'Agnillo, 642 P.2d 710 (Utah 1982); Jensen v. Thomas, 570 P.2d 695 (Utah 1977); Myer ex rel. Myer v. Bartholomew, 690 P.2d 558 (Utah 1984).)

There is no case law interpreting Rule 59(a)(3) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure which would allow this rule to serve as the basis for a new trial when the accident or surprise did not occur at trial, but rather which prevented a party from attending trial. Therefore, this is an appropriate basis on which to grant a new trial.

However, even if the Rule 59(a)(3) was an appropriate grounds for a new trial, Appellant failed to provide a sufficient basis on which a new trial could be granted. Under Utah law, a trial judge in granting or denying a motion for a new trial has

broad latitude, and should not be overturned by an appellate court absent a clear abuse of discretion by a trial judge. Barson by and through Barson v. E. R. Squibb & Sons, Inc., 682 P.2d 832 (Utah 1984); Nelson v. Trujillo, 657 P.2d 730 (Utah 1982); Lembach v. Cox, 639 P.2d 197 (Utah 1981). It is not an abuse of discretion in this case for the trial court to have found that there was an inadequate basis for the Appellant to claim that he was prevented from attending trial due to accident or surprise.

The Appellant has provided absolutely no medical documentation in support of his position that he was incapacitated on the day of his hearing. The Appellant did submit three affidavits in support of the proposition that he was incapacitated on that day. These affidavits are contained in Exhibit E of Appellant's brief. However, the documents found in Exhibit J of Appellant's brief were never submitted to the trial court for the trial court's use in its determination on the motion for a new trial. As such, those documents constitute new evidence which is inappropriate to present for the first time on appeal.

Appellant filed his own affidavit stating that he was incapacitated (see Exhibit E of Appellant's Brief). Appellant has also submitted an affidavit of his apartment building manager (see Exhibit E of Appellant's Brief) which

states that he had seen the Appellant incapacitated prior to the day of the hearing. The manager then stated that on the day of the hearing, the Appellant did not come out of his apartment until early evening. The apartment manager does not claim to have seen the Appellant incapacitated on the day of the hearing.

The only medical affidavit submitted by the Appellant is the Affidavit of Michael Lowry, M.D. (see Exhibit E of Appellant's Brief). In his affidavit, Dr. Lowry does diagnose the Appellant with mitral valve prolapse. However, he does not state that the symptoms of this condition actually result in incapacitation, and further, does not express an opinion as to whether the Appellant actually became incapacitated on the day of the hearing or even if it was likely that the Appellant became incapacitated on that day.

Due to the lack of evidence supporting Appellant's proposition that he was incapacitated on the day of the hearing, it was not an abuse of discretion of the trial court to deny a new trial.

POINT III.

**THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION
BY GRANTING JUDGMENT TO THE APPELLEE WHILE
THERE WERE OUTSTANDING RULE 11 MOTIONS AGAINST
APPELLEE'S COUNSEL.**

During the course of litigation at the trial level, the Appellant filed motions for sanctions against Appellee's counsel pursuant to Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 11. These motions had

not been ruled upon by the trial judge as of the date of the dismissal of the case. However, this is not a valid ground for appeal since the motions for sanctions pursuant to Rule 11 have nothing whatsoever to do with the merits of the case and could not in any way affect the judgment rendered. Since this issue in no way affects the judgment rendered in this case, it is not an appropriate issue for this Court to address.

The 1983 Advisory Committee Note to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11, upon which Utah Rule of Civil Procedure is based states:

A party seeking sanctions should give notice to the court and the offending party promptly upon discovering a basis for doing so. However, it is anticipated that in the case of pleadings, the sanctions issue under Rule 11 will normally be determined at the end of litigation, and in the case of motions, at the time when the motion is decided or shortly thereafter. (emphasis added.)

Under this Advisory Committee Note, the trial court has the discretion to rule on the propriety of sanctions under Rule 11 at any time. Since the Rule 11 motions have no bearing on the outcome of the underlying case, which is an action for property damage, the trial court is within his discretion to decide on the propriety of sanctions at a time after a judgment in the underlying case has been rendered.

Case law also supports this proposition:

It makes no difference that the district court decided to impose the sanctions for the

litigation only after the post-judgment motions, or that the court changed its prior position with respect to sanctions in doing so. The Advisory Committee Notes to Amended Rule 11 explicitly state that 'the time when sanctions are to be imposed rests in the discretion of the trial judge.'

McLaughlin v. Bradlee, 803 F.2d 1197, 1205 (D.C. Cir. 1986).

Not only was the trial court's decision to wait until the end of litigation to decide on sanctions within the trial court's discretion, but some cases have held that, as a general rule, a trial court should wait until the end of litigation to decide on Rule 11 sanctions.

A district court's decision of whether to impose Rule 11 sanctions based on the complaint should wait until the end of litigation. See Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11, Advisory Committee Note.

Donaldson v. Clark, 786 F.2d 1570, 1576 (11th Cir. 1986).

It is not a proper grounds for appeal to complain that a trial court rendered judgment prior to the time Rule 11 sanctions were decided.

CONCLUSION